IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 05 2017

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

MARIA ELENA LOPEZ,

Defendant and Petitioner.

|
| Case No. S238627 Jorge Navarrete Clerk

|
| (Court of Appeal No. Deputy
| C078537))

|
| (Yolo Co. Superior Court
| No. CRF143400)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF YOLO
HONORABLE SAMUEL T. MCADAM, JUDGE PRESIDING

SOLOMON WOLLACK
Attorney at Law
State Bar No. 170003
P.O. Box 23933
Pleasant Hill, CA 94523
Telephone: (925) 671-2501
E-mail: sol@wollack.com

Attorney for Respondent
Maria Elena Lopez

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. After the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Arizona v. Gant* (2009) 556 U.S. 332, which substantially narrowed the scope of the vehicle search doctrine, may a police officer still search inside a suspect's vehicle for identification when the suspect fails to provide it upon request?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On July 4, 2014, a Woodland police officer approached respondent Maria Elena Lopez just after she exited her car and asked if she had a driver's license. (RT 33-34.) Respondent said she did not, but that she had an identification card in the car. (RT 33-34, 39-40.) The officer immediately placed her in handcuffs, retrieved her purse from the car, and searched it, revealing methamphetamine. (RT 33-35.)

The Court of Appeal held that the police conducted a permissible search for identification, authorized by this Court's decision in *In re Arturo D.* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 60, 64-65. (Decision, p. 2.) The Court of Appeal's conclusion rested on two key premises. The first was that *Arturo D.*'s "documentation search" doctrine survives the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Arizona v. Gant* (2009) 556 U.S. 332, which narrowed the scope of the Fourth Amendment's vehicle search exception. (Decision, pp. 13-15.) The second was that *Gant* applied only to post-arrest vehicle searches; in the Court of Appeal's view, respondent, despite being handcuffed, was not yet under arrest. (Decision, p. 15.)

This Court need not address whether respondent was or was not under arrest when placed in handcuffs, for the search of her purse was

illegal either way. If she was under arrest, then the search violated *Gant*, whose holding overruled *Arturo D*. If she was not yet under arrest, then the search violated *Knowles v. Iowa* (1998) 525 U.S. 113, 114, and this Court's recent decision in *People v. Macabeo* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1206. Finally, even if the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement does include an exception for documentation searches, that exception did not apply here since there was no underlying traffic stop and respondent did not fail to provide identification.

The remedy for the violation is suppression. The good faith exception does not apply because: (1) the prosecutor forfeited the right to rely on it; (2) the state of the law was muddled and not the sort of "binding appellate precedent" on which a police officer may rely (*Davis v. United States* (2011) 564 U.S. 229, 232); and (3) the search was unlawful even under the documentation search doctrine. Because the search of respondent's purse violated the Fourth Amendment, this Court must reverse the Court of Appeal's decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 21, 2014, the Yolo County District Attorney filed a complaint charging respondent with felony possession of methamphetamine (Health & Saf. Code, § 11377, subd. (a)), and a

misdemeanor of driving on a suspended license (Veh. Code, § 14601.2, subd. (a)). (1 CT 3-4.)¹ At the close of the preliminary hearing, the magistrate reduced the felony charge to a misdemeanor. (RT 14-15.)

Respondent filed a motion to suppress evidence due to an unlawful search and seizure. (CT 11-14.) An evidentiary hearing took place on January 27, 2015. (CT 36.) In a written order, the trial court granted respondent's motion, finding that the arresting officer conducted an illegal vehicle search under *Arizona v. Gant, supra*, 556 U.S. 332. (CT 38-43.) On June 2, 2015, the trial court dismissed the charges under Penal Code section 1385. (Supp. CT [Jun. 8, 2015]: 2.) The prosecution filed a timely notice of appeal on July 1, 2015. (Supp. CT [Jul. 21, 2015]: 1.)

In a published decision of October 27, 2016, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed. The court found that the Woodland police lawfully detained respondent, and that the search of her vehicle was permissible as a search for identification which respondent had failed

¹ The record contains one 49-page main volume of clerk's transcript, which respondent refers to as simply "CT." Supplemental volumes of clerk's transcript will be specified by the date on which the volumes were file stamped in the Yolo County Superior Court.

to provide. (COA's decision ["Decision" herein], pp. 11-15.) The court, therefore, reinstated the drug charges against respondent and remanded the case to Yolo County Superior Court. (Decision, p. 16.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Unless otherwise stated, the following facts are based on the evidence presented at the suppression hearing.

A. Respondent's July 4, 2014 detention

On July 4, 2014, around 10:24 a.m., Woodland police officer Jeff Moe received a dispatch regarding a report of erratic driving. (RT 26-28.) The dispatcher described the car as a dark Toyota and gave Moe the license plate number. (RT 28-29.)

When Moe could not find the car in the area described, he asked the dispatcher to run the license plate. (RT 29.) As a result, he learned that it was registered to someone at 116 Northwest Street. (RT 29.) Moe drove by that address but still did not see the car. (RT 30.)

At 1:35 p.m., Moe received a second dispatch about the same vehicle. (RT 30-31.) Moe additionally learned that a citizen had identified the driver as someone named Marlana, and said that she "had been drinking all day." (RT 30.) The citizen described Marlana's

location but, when Moe drove to the area, he again did not see the vehicle. (RT 30-31.)

Moe next drove to 116 Northwest Street, where he parked by the side of the road. (RT 31-32.) A few minutes later, the Toyota pulled up and parked next to the curb in front of the residence. (RT 32, 37.) Moe saw that the driver was a Hispanic female whom he believed to be Marlana. (RT 32.) He did not observe her commit any traffic violations. (RT 32, 37.) During the evidentiary hearing, Moe identified respondent as Marlana. (RT 41.)

As Moe approached, respondent got out of her car, looking “nervous.” (RT 33.) Respondent began to walk away from Moe, but Moe “didn’t give her a chance to go towards anywhere.” (RT 33, 38.) Instead, he asked if she had a driver’s license. (RT 33, 38.) Respondent said that she did not, but that she believed her identification was inside the vehicle. (RT 34, 39-40.) Moe immediately detained her by grabbing her wrist and placing her in a “control hold.” (RT 34.) Respondent tried to pull away, but Moe was able to handcuff her. (RT 34.)

During direct examination, Moe testified that respondent mentioned the identification card only after he had detained her. (RT

34.) During cross, he reviewed his report and clarified that she mentioned the identification card when she revealed that she did not have her license. (RT 39-40.)

B. The search of respondent's car

While Moe was with respondent, his partner, Officer Barrera, retrieved a small purse from the car's front passenger seat. (RT 34-35.) Barrera handed the purse to Moe, who opened a side pocket looking for identification. (RT 35.) He found respondent's identification card and a plastic baggy containing methamphetamine. (RT 35.)

Moe could not recall if he asked respondent her name or date of birth before Officer Barrera entered the vehicle. (RT 42.) However, he testified that, even if he had, he would not have been satisfied with her answer "[b]ecause in the job that I'm in, 90 percent of the time, people lie to me." (RT 43.)

Respondent did not display any signs of alcohol intoxication during her interaction with Moe. (RT 40.) At the preliminary hearing, Moe testified that respondent's driver's license was suspended. (RT 10-11.)

ARGUMENT

I.

The Police Violated the Fourth Amendment's Prohibition on Unreasonable Searches and Seizures by Seizing Respondent's Purse from Inside Her Vehicle and Searching It.

A. Standard of review

Resolution of a Fourth Amendment suppression motion involves a mixed question of law and fact. (*People v. Zamudio* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 327, 342.) A reviewing court must apply a substantial evidence standard for the judge's resolution of factual issues, but must exercise independent review in applying the governing law to the facts. (*People v. Saunders* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1129, 1134.)

B. If respondent was under arrest, then the search of her purse constituted an unlawful vehicle search under the Supreme Court's decision in *Arizona v. Gant*.

- 1. The search violated *Gant*, as the police had no reason to believe that the vehicle or its contents contained evidence relevant to the underlying traffic infraction.**

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution ensures the right of all "people to be secure in their persons . . . against unreasonable searches and seizures." The California Constitution contains a similar guarantee, set forth in Article I, section 24. "In the

absence of a warrant, a search is reasonable only if it falls within a specific exception to the warrant requirement.” (*Riley v. California* (2014) 573 U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2482.) The burden is on the state to demonstrate that one of these exception applies. (*People v. Camacho* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 824, 830.)

The United States Supreme Court has long recognized a vehicle exception to the Fourth Amendment’s warrant requirement. (See *Carroll v. United States* (1925) 267 U.S. 132, 153-154.) This exception rests on two rationales. The first rationale is that vehicles are mobile and can be driven away if not seized. (*California v. Carney* (1985) 471 U.S. 386, 391.) Once seized, practical considerations justify an immediate search since a warrant requirement would force the police to either tow the car to the station or “post guard at the vehicle” while another officer obtains the warrant. (*United States v. Ross* (1982) 456 U.S. 798, 807, fn. 9; *Robey v. Superior Court* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1218, 1232.) For these reasons, the police may conduct warrantless searches of any area of the vehicle which they have probable cause to believe will contain contraband or evidence. (*Ross*, at p. 824.)

The second reason for permitting warrantless searches of vehicles is that they are a necessary incident to arrest in order to ensure that the arrested driver does not reach for a weapon. (*Chimel v. California* (1969) 395 U.S. 752, 762-763.) The Supreme Court first endorsed this rationale in *New York v. Belton* (1981) 453 U.S. 454, 460. However, rather than limit the search's scope to only those areas within the arrestee's reach, *Belton* set forth a per se rule that the police may search the entire passenger compartment of a vehicle incident to the driver's arrest. (*Ibid.*)

In *Arizona v. Gant, supra*, 556 U.S. at pp. 350-351, the Supreme Court overruled *Belton*, insofar as it permitted suspicionless searches of the entire passenger area. Under *Gant*, the police may search a vehicle incident to arrest "only if the arrestee is within reaching distance of the passenger compartment at the time of the search or it is reasonable to believe the vehicle contains evidence of the offense of arrest." (*Gant*, at p. 351.)

The arrest in *Gant* was for driving on a suspended license. (*Arizona v. Gant, supra*, 556 U.S. at p. 335.) Yet, under *Belton*, even an arrest for a traffic offense would permit a search of the entire passenger

area – though there would rarely be reason to believe it contained evidence of the underlying infraction. (*Gant*, at pp. 343-345.) The Court found such a result intolerable, as it posed “a serious and recurring threat to the privacy of countless individuals.” (*Id.* at p. 345.)

As in *Gant*, the arrest here was for a traffic infraction – driving without physical possession of a license. (RT 33-34, 47.) The search of respondent’s vehicle took place after Officer Moe had placed her in handcuffs. (RT 34-35.) Hence, she had no ability to reach inside the car for a weapon.

Moreover, as the Court of Appeal acknowledged, Officer Moe had no reasonable basis to believe that respondent’s car contained additional evidence of the underlying traffic infraction. (COA’s decision, p. 14.) Officer Moe saw respondent driving the car and she admitted she did not have physical possession of a driver’s license. (RT 32-34.) Under such circumstances, the officer had all the information he needed to issue a citation. (*People v. Macabeo, supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 1217 [officer who observes a traffic infraction possesses “all the evidence necessary to prosecute that offense”]; see also *Arizona v. Gant, supra*, 556 U.S. at p. 344.) There was nothing the ensuing search was likely to turn

up which would have been relevant to the offense of citation. (*Macabeo*, at p. 1217.) The search of respondent's purse, therefore, constituted an unlawful vehicle search under *Gant*.

2. After *Gant*, the search of respondent's purse cannot be justified as a search for identification.

In upholding the July 4, 2014 search, the Court of Appeal did not rely on the vehicle search doctrine. Instead, it held that the search of respondent's purse, found inside her car, constituted a lawful search for identification. (Decision, pp. 12, 14-15.)

The concept of an identification search traces its roots to this Court's decision in *People v. Webster* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 411. There, the Court observed that, under Vehicle Code, sections 4462, subdivision (a) and 12951, subdivision (b), a driver of a vehicle must produce a license and vehicle registration upon a police officer's demand. (*Webster*, at p. 430.) To effectuate these laws, the Court concluded that the police may, "[w]ithin constitutional limits," enter the vehicle and search for a license or registration where the driver fails to produce them after a traffic stop. (*Webster*, at p. 430.)

The Court in *Webster* did not address what the "constitutional limits" on an identification search might be. Some 11 years later,

however, this Court held that the Fourth Amendment permits the type of documentation search described in *Webster*, provided it is limited to those areas of the vehicle where such documentation “reasonably may be expected to be found.” (*In re Arturo D.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 64-65, 86.)

The decision in *Arturo D.* effectively created a documentation or identification exception to the Fourth Amendment’s warrant requirement. In doing so, this Court relied primarily on *New York v. Class* (1986) 475 U.S. 106. (*In re Arturo D.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at pp. 71-74.) *Class*, however, did not countenance such an exception. It merely held that a police officer may reach inside a vehicle during a traffic stop and remove papers which are obscuring the Vehicle Identification Number (“VIN”). (*Class*, at p. 107.) The reason for this rule is that a driver has no reasonable expectation of privacy in his or her VIN – a number which must, by federal regulation, be readable from outside the car. (*Id.* at pp. 112-114.) The Court specifically contrasted this area of the car to other more private areas, like the trunk and glove compartment. (*Id.* at p. 114.)

That the police may make a suspicionless intrusion into an area of the vehicle which must be visible to the public does not mean they may make a similar intrusion into a container within the vehicle which is “a repository of personal effects.” (*United States v. Chadwick* (1977) 433 U.S. 1, 13.) That is precisely what a purse is. (*People v. Baker* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1152, 1159 [“a purse has been recognized as an inherently private repository for personal items”]; see also *Wyoming v. Houghton* (1999) 526 U.S. 295, 308 [conc. opn. of Breyer, J.].)

The *Arturo D.* majority conceded that a search of the area near the VIN was not the same as a search for identification; however, it concluded that the same policy considerations which justified the search in *Class* also justified a “limited warrantless search” for identification. (*In re Arturo D.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 73.) Those considerations included the importance of the VIN regulatory system, the reduced expectation of privacy inside a vehicle, officer safety concerns, and the “limited nature of the search undertaken.” (*Id.* at p. 72; *New York v. Class*, *supra*, 475 U.S. at pp. 113-115, 118.)

The Supreme Court’s 2009 decision in *Gant* forecloses any argument that a warrantless search for documentation is permissible

under *Class*. After all, a central concern in *Gant* was the considerable privacy expectation which a motorist enjoys in her car. (*Arizona v. Gant*, *supra*, 556 U.S. at p. 345.) The reason *Gant* found fault with *Belton* was that it subjected those guilty of mere traffic infractions to intrusive searches of not only the passenger area of their vehicles, “but every purse, briefcase, or other container within that space.” (*Gant*, at p. 345.) These are precisely the types of places where an officer would logically look for a driver’s license. (See *In re Arturo D.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 90 [conc. & dis. opn. of Werdegar, J.].) They are also precisely the types of places in which a driver’s reasonable expectation of privacy is at its highest. (*United States v. Welch* (9th Cir. 1993) 4 F.3d 761, 764 [“a purse is a type of container in which a person possesses the highest expectations of privacy”].)

In finding that the identification search doctrine survives *Gant*, the Court of Appeal relied largely on *New York v. Class*, *supra*, 475 U.S. 106 – the same decision on which *Arturo D.* relied when it created the doctrine in the first place. (Decision, pp. 7, 14-15.) As previously discussed, *Class* was a limited holding which cannot be read to approve suspicionless searches inside private areas of a vehicle.

Nor did *Gant* cite *Class* “with approval” – as the Court of Appeal stated in its decision. (Decision, p. 15.) *Gant* mentioned *Class* only in passing – for the unremarkable proposition that “a motorist’s privacy interest in his vehicle is less substantial than in his home.” (*Arizona v. Gant, supra*, 556 U.S. at p. 345.) Yet, in the very same sentence, the high Court emphasized that a motorist still enjoys significant privacy expectations in his vehicle, and that expansive vehicle searches jeopardize these privacy interests. (*Ibid.*) The Court did not remotely suggest that it read *Class* to create or permit an entire new category of warrantless vehicle searches.

No matter what nomenclature a court attaches to it, a search for documentation inside a vehicle is still a vehicle search. “[T]he subjective intent of a police officer is irrelevant in evaluating the legality of a search or seizure.” (*People v. Woods* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 668, 678-679; see also *Whren v. United States* (1996) 517 U.S. 806, 812-813.) A search inside a vehicle objectively constitutes a vehicle search regardless whether the officer hopes to find drugs or only a driver’s license.

Since the Supreme Court's decision in *Gant*, at least four non-California tribunals have recognized that a suspicionless search inside a vehicle cannot be justified under the Fourth Amendment simply by relabeling it a search for documentation which the driver failed to provide. (*Newell v. County of San Diego* (S.D. Cal. 2014) 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 72735, at *21-22; *Torrez v. Commonwealth* (Ky.Ct.App. 2011) 2011 Ky.App.Unpub.LEXIS 303, at *9-10; *Crock v. City/Town* (W.D.Pa. 2010) 2010 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 136442, at *25; *State v. Rider* (Ariz.Ct.App. 2008) 2008 Ariz.App.Unpub.LEXIS 86, at *9.)² As the Kentucky court stated in *Torrez*, "Allowing [the police] to use the justification of searching for *Torrez's* identification would lend to precisely the type of police entitlement the *Gant* court sought to dissuade." (*Torres*, at *9.)

If respondent was under arrest for the crime of driving without a license, then the search of her vehicle was subject to the requirements of *Arizona v. Gant, supra*, 556 U.S. 332. Neither the trial court nor Court of Appeal found that the search of respondent's purse met these requirements. Accordingly, the search violated the Fourth Amendment.

² California Rules of Court, rule 8.1115 prohibits citations to unpublished California cases. However, the rule does not apply to unpublished non-California cases. (See *Lebrilla v. Farmers Group, Inc.* (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 1070, 1077.)

C. If respondent was only detained, then the search of her purse constituted an unlawful pre-arrest search under *Knowles v. Iowa*.

Although the Court of Appeal found that the documentation search doctrine survives *Gant*, it also found *Gant* inapplicable because respondent was not yet under arrest. (Decision, p. 15.) Even if that is true - which respondent does not concede - the search was still illegal.

In *Knowles v. Iowa, supra*, 525 U.S. at p. 114, the Supreme Court held that the Fourth Amendment prohibits a "full search" of a driver's vehicle during a traffic stop. In so holding, the Court rejected the government's invitation to create a "search incident to citation" rule. (*Knowles*, at pp. 118-119.) Without such a rule, the government argued that drivers could hide or destroy their identification or registration during the traffic stop. (*Id.* at p. 118.) The Court found that such concerns could not justify suspicionless pre-arrest searches of all drivers. Rather, the remedy for failing to produce a satisfactory identification was to arrest the driver. (*Ibid.*)

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