SUPREME COURT

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

AUG - 4 2017

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

MARIA ELENA LOPEZ,

Defendant and Respondent.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Case No. S238627

Third Appellate District, Case No. C078537 Yolo County Superior Court, Case No. CRF143400 The Honorable Samuel McAdam, Judge

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

refused to provide photographic identification and gave police his brother's name and birth certificate]; *People v. Cole* (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 1672, 1676 [defendant provided a false middle name and birth date to the arresting officer]; *People v. Robertson* (1990) 223 Cal.App.3d 1277, 1279 abrogated on another ground in *People v. Rathert* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 200, 205-208 [defendant falsely impersonated his brother upon being arrested for stealing a truck and continued to do so at arraignment by signing his brother's name on the booking and release forms]; *People v. Chardon* (1999) 77 Cal.App.4th 205, 212 [defendant signed her sister's name on a traffic citation].) When that happens during a police investigation, it does not simply frustrate the police: it could also cause potential harm to the person whose name was used to deceive the officer—an innocent person who will not appear for (or perhaps even know about) the citation and could find herself the subject of an undeserved license revocation proceeding or legal action.¹⁰

Lopez also argues that the officers should have allowed her to retrieve her identification from the car rather than searching for it themselves. (OB 23-24.) But settled law permits officers to keep the occupants out of their car during a lawful traffic stop. When a car has been stopped to investigate a traffic violation, "officers may order the driver to get out of the vehicle without violating the Fourth Amendment's proscription of unreasonable searches and seizures." (Ohio v. Robinette, supra, 519 U.S. at pp. 38-39, quoting Pennsylvania v. Mimms (1977) 434 U.S. 106, 111, fn. 6.)

¹⁰ The reverse side of the TR-130 Notice to Appear/Citation indicates that a traffic offender who does not take one of the listed actions—pay the fine, appear in court, contest the violation, correct the violation, request traffic school, or request trial—will be charged with "failure to appear" and the offender's driver's license may be withheld, suspended, or revoked. A failure to appear, as indicated, may result in an arrest or trial in absentia. (*TR-Inst, Notice to Appear and Related Forms, supra*, Appendix F.)

Correspondingly, drivers who voluntarily get out of their cars may be maintained outside of their vehicles. (*Michigan v. Summers* (1981) 452 U.S. 692, 702-703.)

Gant did not change this rule; to the contrary, Gant assumes that an arrestee cannot safely be permitted access to the interior of his car. (Gant, supra, 556 U.S. at p. 343 & fn. 4.) The reason for these rules is not hard to grasp: traffic stops entail severe risks to the police. (See Maryland v. Wilson (1997) 519 U.S. 408, 414; Michigan v. Long, supra, 463 U.S. at p. 1047; Michigan v. Summers, at pp. 702-703; Arturo D., supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 85, fn. 23.) The United States Supreme Court has never suggested that officers must subject themselves to such risks in order to have access to the papers and documents that they are legally entitled to see regarding cars driven on public roads. (See pp. 35-36, ante.)

Lopez suggests that she should have been allowed to go into her car because she is 57 years old and weighs under 145 pounds. (OB 25.) But in applying the Fourth Amendment, the Supreme Court has "noted the virtue of providing "clear and unequivocal" guidelines to the law enforcement profession." (*California v. Acevedo* (1991) 500 U.S. 565, 577.) Lopez's proposal for an age- and physique-based standard notably fails that test. It is the need for satisfactory identification to complete a citation that is the critical inquiry here and not the size and shape of the driver.

In any event, the circumstances of Lopez's case do not suggest that it was unreasonable for the officers to look for her identification themselves instead of allowing her to access whatever was in her car or attempt to escape. As Officer Moe testified and the trial court found, Lopez had physically resisted detention. To conclude that Officer Moe should have then permitted her access to unknown and potentially dangerous objects that could have been in her car would be to treat officer safety concerns more cavalierly than common sense or Supreme Court precedent permits.

(See Robinette, supra, 519 U.S. at pp. 38-39; Michigan v. Summers, supra, 452 U.S. at pp. 702-703.)

Lopez argues that the search was unreasonable because the officer had the alternative of arresting her if her identity could not be proven. (OB 22-27.) But it was not unreasonable for this Court, in Arturo D., to reason that a full custodial arrest would be "considerably more intrusive" than a limited vehicle search for identification documents. (Arturo D., supra, 27 Cal.4th at p. 76, fn 17.) A custodial arrest by its nature involves physical seizure, the use of restraints, and transportation to a magistrate. Usually it also includes a search of the arrestee and the arrestee's personal effects, the setting of bail, the impoundment and inventory search of a car, and confinement in a holding cell with strangers who have been arrested for other crimes. It seems unlikely that most people would prefer a custodial arrest to a limited search of a vehicle for identification. At the very least, it is not unreasonable for officers to engage in a limited search that could obviate the need for those more intrusive measures. (See generally United States v. Sharpe, supra, 470 U.S. at pp. 686-687 [constitutionality depends not on whether an alternative course was available to the officer, but rather on whether the officer's decision not to pursue the alternative was reasonable].)

Lopez cites a variety of cases, which she claims support her argument. (OB 17 [citing Newell v. Cnty. of San Diego (S.D. Cal. May 28, 2014, 3:12-cv-1696-GPC-BLM) 2014 WL 2212136; Torrez v. Commonwealth of Kentucky (Apr. 8, 2011, 2009-CA-000410-MR) 2011 WL 1327129; Crock v. City of Mt. Lebanon (Dec. 3, 2010, 2:09-426) 2010 WL 5437266; Arizona v. Rider (Aug. 14, 2008, 1 CA-CR 07-0352) 2008 WL 3846312].) None of Lopez's cases is controlling authority in California. (See People v. Troyer (2011) 51 Cal.4th 599, 610.) Nor, on closer inspection, do they support her case.

Newell was a civil rights suit alleging violations of the plaintiff's Fourth Amendment rights. (Newell v. Cnty. of San Diego, supra, 2014 WL 2212136, *7.) In denying Newell relief, the federal district court affirmed the existence of authority permitting "non-consensual vehicle searches to ascertain vehicle ownership" but distinguished those cases from the facts because the plaintiff was not shown to be under arrest, in possession of contraband, or otherwise evasive. (Id. at p. *8.) Crock likewise assumed the vitality of precedent permitting document searches of vehicles but distinguished those cases as not applying because, for instance, there was no genuine uncertainty about the owner of the vehicle at issue. (Crock v. City of Mt. Lebanon, supra, 2010 WL 5437266, *6-*7.)

In Torrez v. Commonwealth of Kentucky, supra, 2011 WL 1327129, *1, Torrez's car was searched for identification only after he had been arrested for driving under the influence and had been placed in the police car. The court ruled the search violated *Gant* since Torrez was under arrest and secured outside his vehicle and because the search for identification would not produce evidence of the crime of drunk driving. (*Id.* at p. *3.) Rider likewise concerned a search that occurred after an arrest. (Arizona v. Rider, supra, 2008 WL 3846312, at pp. *1, *3.) Neither Torrez nor Rider considered whether it is proper to search for identification so that a citation may be issued.

In contrast, the People have cited numerous cases, and an influential treatise, that directly addressed the propriety of warrantless document searches of automobiles under the Fourth Amendment, upholding their permissibility after *Gant*. (See pp. 28-29, *ante*.) Those cases' and commentator's conclusions align with the United States Supreme Court's precedent for the reasons explained elsewhere in this brief, and they are far more persuasive than Lopez's distinguishable authorities.

II. SUPPRESSION WOULD BE IMPROPER UNDER THE GOOD-FAITH RULE

Even if this Court were to overrule or limit *Arturo D*. and hold the search here unconstitutional, Lopez would not be entitled to suppression.

A. Good-Faith Reliance upon Binding Precedent Precludes Suppression

The United States Supreme Court has made clear that suppression of evidence should be a court's "last resort, not our first impulse,' [citation]." (Herring v. United States (2009) 555 U.S. 135, 140 (Herring); accord, Davis, supra, 564 U.S. at p. 237; Hudson v. Michigan (2006) 547 U.S. 586, 591.) The Constitution does not entitle defendants to suppression of evidence as redress for an unconstitutional search. (Davis, at p. 236, citing United States v. Janis (1976) 428 U.S. 433, 454, fn. 29 (Janis).) Rather, the exclusionary rule is a sanction that the United States Supreme Court has created (Davis, at pp. 231-232) "to deter future Fourth Amendment violations" (id. at pp. 236-237).

But "[e]xclusion exacts a heavy toll on both the judicial system and society at large." (*Davis, supra,* 564 U.S. at p. 237.) "The principal cost of applying the [exclusionary] rule is, of course, letting guilty and possibly dangerous defendants go free—something that offends basic concepts of the criminal justice system." (*Herring, supra,* 555 U.S. at pp. 141-142, internal quotation marks and citations omitted). As a result, the exclusionary rule applies only when it will "result in appreciable deterrence" (*id.* at p. 141, quoting *Janis, supra,* 428 U.S. at p. 454; accord, *Davis,* at p. 237) and where "the benefits of deterrence [will] outweigh the costs." (*Herring,* at p. 141; *id.* at p. 147 ["the deterrent effect of suppression must be substantial and outweigh any harm to the justice system"]; accord, *Davis,* at p. 237.) As a result, suppression is not proper

where officers acted in objectively reasonable reliance upon binding appellate authority. (*Davis*, at pp. 232, 240-241.)

Thus, suppression is unwarranted here regardless of whether this Court alters the rule from *Arturo D*. A decision by this Court binds all courts and law enforcement officers in California unless and until the decision is overruled by this Court itself or by the United States Supreme Court. (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.) The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Gant* did not overrule *Arturo D*. because *Gant* involved an entirely different search exception and supporting rationale. (See pp. 18-19, *ante*.) Nor has this Court overruled *Arturo D*.

More importantly, any marginal deterrence from suppressing evidence under the circumstances presented in this case would be outweighed by the social costs. When officers act deliberately, recklessly, or with grossly negligent disregard for the Fourth Amendment, "the deterrent value of exclusion is strong and tends to outweigh the resulting costs." (*Davis*, supra, 564 U.S. at p. 238.) But "when the police act with an objectively reasonable good-faith belief that their conduct is lawful, . . . the deterrence rationale loses much of its force, and exclusion cannot pay its way." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) In light of *Arturo D*. and the differences between that case and *Gant*, it cannot be said that Officer Moe knew or should have known that the search he conducted was in violation of the Fourth Amendment. As a result, suppression would be improper. (*Herring*, supra, 555 U.S. at p. 143.)

This Court's decision in *Macabeo* does not require a different result. In *Macabeo*, the prosecution argued that it would be improper to suppress the contents of a cell phone that had been searched incident to arrest, given that this Court's precedent had previously allowed such searches and that *Riley v. California*, which barred cell phone searches incident to arrest, was

issued after the search in question. *Macabeo* did not reject the prosecution's argument that suppression would have been improper if the police had searched the phone incident to arrest in reliance on this Court's pre-*Riley* case law. Instead, *Macabeo* held that good-faith reliance was beside the point because the search was improper under pre-*Riley* precedent too. Pre-*Riley* precedent in California had permitted a cell phone search only incident to arrest, whereas the defendant in *Macabeo* had not been arrested and would not have been arrested absent the evidence found during the search. (*Macabeo*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at 1216 ["Even before *Riley*, ... the search here would not have qualified as a proper search incident to arrest" because "Macabeo was not under arrest when officers searched his phone."].) That reasoning does not apply here, since the binding precedent on which Officer Moe relied, *Arturo D.*, does not require arrest but instead applies where citation is a possibility.

B. The People Did Not Forfeit This Argument

Lopez argues that the People have forfeited their argument about good-faith reliance on *Arturo D*. because the People did not raise this argument in the trial court. (OB 31-33). But the issue has not been forfeited. Lopez did not so much as cite *Gant* in her written motion (ICT 11-14), and her oral *Gant*-related arguments during the trial court's hearing were based entirely on the supposition that Lopez had been arrested before the search and that this was effectively a search "incident to arrest." (IRT 48; see *ibid*. [arguing that Officer Moe, in grabbing Lopez's arm after she admitted being unlicensed, was "arresting her for driving without a license" and that *Gant*'s limits therefore applied].) Lopez did not argue that *Gant*'s rule applied to non-arrested detainees and therefore raised no claim that *Gant* superseded *Arturo D*. Because Lopez had not argued in the trial court

that Arturo D. had been or should be overruled, she raised nothing to which a good-faith argument would have been relevant.¹¹

In any event, this Court's precedent makes clear that there is no reason to bar the People from now raising good faith in this case. A reviewing court may affirm the judgment on the basis urged in the trial court or some other alternative ground. (Robey v. Superior Court (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1218, 1242.) True, "appellate courts should not consider a Fourth Amendment theory for the first time on appeal when 'the People's new theory was not supported by the record made at the first hearing and would have necessitated the taking of considerably more evidence." (Id. at p. 1242, quoting Green v. Superior Court (1985) 40 Cal.3d 126, 137-138.) When "the factual basis for the [new] theory is fully set forth in the record," however, a party's failure to present the theory to the trial court does not bar review. (People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 789, 801, fn. 7; see Green, at pp. 137-138.) The good-faith rule does not require extensive factual development; it represents only a pure question of law, making the strict application of forfeiture rules inappropriate. (Higgason v. Superior Court (1985) 170 Cal. App.3d 929, 942.) Here, for instance, the application of the good-faith rule depends simply on the degree to which Gant either directly

¹¹ The judge later asked whether *Gant* had superseded prior state law. (IRT 50-51.) But the prosecution's decision to distinguish *Gant* rather than raise good faith at that point could not have unfairly disadvantaged Lopez because the judge's question went beyond anything that Lopez herself argued or relied on. The trial judge's written ruling made the good-faith defense potentially relevant—but by that time the suppression hearing evidence was closed. Lopez was not deprived of any opportunity to make a record when the People successfully convinced the Court of Appeal to reverse the trial court's underlying Fourth Amendment ruling rather than raising a good-faith defense at that point.

overrules Arturo D. or places Arturo D.'s rule entirely beyond the realm of plausibility.¹²

Robey does not require a different result. (OB 32.) In Robey, this Court held that the prosecution had forfeited its appellate arguments for creating a "plain smell" doctrine by not raising the arguments in the trial court. (Robey v. Superior Court, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 1241.)

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